2001

Gorgoza, Incorporated; James B. Conkling; Donna D. Conkling v. The State of Utah Road Commission : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This is an action to recover damages for the breach of a contract under which the defendant Utah State Road Commission (now Department of Transportation) obligated itself to provide reasonable commercial access to the plaintiffs' winter resort facilities pursuant to eminent domain proceedings in which the State Road Commission eventually condemned approximately eight acres of the plaintiffs' land. In the same action, plaintiffs alleged that the Commission negligently created a defective, unsafe and dangerous condition of a highway and other public improvements which caused the plaintiffs' injury.

DISPOSITION IN LOWER COURT

Plaintiffs appeal from an order of the Third Judicial District Court, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr., Judge,

granting defendant State Road Commission's motion for summary judgment and dismissing plaintiffs' complaint with prejudice on the grounds that no binding agreement or enforceable contract existed between the parties and that the State had not, therefore, waived its immunity from suits of this kind. (R. 133.)

RELIEF SOUGHT ON APPEAL

Plaintiffs pray the court to reverse the aforesaid summary judgment and to remand the case for trial.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

In response to Governor Rampton's appeal for the development of new industries in Utah, plaintiffs James B. and Donna D. Conkling initiated and developed the Gorgoza Summer-Winter Resort which opened for business in Summit County, Utah, during the month of December, 1968. (R. 1, 38.) Following a profitable first year's operation, the State Road Commission closed the lower portion of Parley's Canyon for the purpose of constructing a section of Interstate Highway 80 - East. After unsuccessfully appealing the closure and in spite of the difficulties presented thereby, Gorgoza managed to remain in operation for a second year. Planned investments in summer facilities were necessarily postponed, however, as potential investors withdrew their subscriptions and the SBA declined to approve Gorgoza's loan application.

When Parley's Canyon reopened during the summer of

1970, Gorgoza obtained the required financing and began construction of additional summer and winter facilities, reserving additional funds to complete its summer facilities the following spring. In September of 1970, the resort embarked upon its third year of operations.

Prior to reopening for its third winter season, Gorgoza officials held several meetings with representatives of the State Department of Highways in an attempt to determine how the resort would be affected by future I-80 and frontage road construction projects. In addition, Gorgoza officials supplied the State with cost data and other information which pointed out Gorgoza's need for adequate access to its commercial and recreational facilities during periods of construction in the canyon. (R. 33-35.)

In early spring of 1971, the plaintiffs became concerned about the indefinite work schedule on I-80 and the frontage road, the lack of specific information regarding commercial access from U.S. 40 during the upcoming construction periods, and unresolved problems about entrance lighting and highway signs. Plaintiff James Conkling therefore initiated direct correspondence with Mr. Henry Helland, Director of the Department of Highways, concerning these problems. (R. 36-40.) When the Department's response failed to provide sufficiently detailed information on which to base future development plans, Mr. Conkling by letter of May 29, 1971, specifically requested the State's assurance "that we will have the kind of access that will permit us to stay in business during the construction stages." (R. 40.)

During the first week of June, 1971, Mr. Leland D. Ford, attorney for the State Road Commission, contacted Mr. Robert F. Orton, attorney for plaintiffs, and requested that Mr. Orton accept service of process and consent to the entry of an order of immediate occupancy on behalf of Gorgoza in an eminent domain proceeding which was being instituted by the State for the purpose of condemning approximately eight acres of the plaintiffs' land. (R. 1, 76.) Mr. Orton agreed to accept service of process and to consent to immediate entry of the order in exchange for the State's promise that certain terms, provisions, and obligations regarding access to and use of Gorgoza's remaining property during the construction period would be incorporated into and made a part of the order. (R. 76.) Thereafter Mr. Ford submitted a proposed order of immediate occupancy to Mr. Orton which was rejected on the grounds that it did not spell out the State's obligations in sufficient detail. (R. 76 and Exhibit "A" at 80-82.)

On the 7th day of June, 1971, Mr. Orton and Mr. Ford negotiated and agreed upon the terms to be included in the order of immediate occupancy to be entered by the Fourth Judicial District Court of Summit County, State of Utah. (R. 76.) On the same day, Mr. Orton acknowledged service of process on behalf of Gorgoza and the court entered the order incorporating the stipulation and agreement of the parties. (R. 77 and Exhibit "B" at 87-89.) Following the entry of said order, the venue of the

eminent domain proceedings was changed to the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah. (R. 77.)

By stipulating and agreeing to the entry of said order of immediate occupancy, defendant State Road Commission agreed and was ordered to provide plaintiffs and the general public with reasonable access to the remaining property of Gorgoza so as not to interfere with the commercial and recreational activities being conducted thereon, nor to discourage the general public from frequenting and going upon the property. (R. 77.) The term "reasonable" for purposes of the order was defined to include "safe and easy ingress and egress to and from said property and notice to the general public of the access to Gorgoza's remaining property." (R. 88.) Defendant State Road Commission further agreed to be enjoined and was enjoined by the order from hindering or interfering with the use, occupation and enjoyment by plaintiffs of their remaining property and the commercial and recreational activities being conducted thereon. (R. 77.)

During the fall of 1971, an intolerable situation developed regarding access to Gorgoza's property. (R. 21.) The frontage road had not been completed, no access route from U.S. 40 had been constructed, and the deadline for deciding whether to reopen for a fourth winter season was rapidly approaching. (R. 41.) Because of the seriousness of the problem, on September 24, 1971, James Conkling met directly with Governor Rampton to inform him of the situation and to appeal for emergency aid. (R. 21.) Following this meeting, Mr. Conkling met with

representatives of the State Department of Highways on September 28, 1971, to discuss the problem and to submit certain data prepared by Gorgoza for the State's review. (R. 21, 41-45.) At this meeting, the State Highway Engineer, Mr. Blaine Kay, gave assurances that Gorgoza would be promptly provided with a surfaced entrance and driveway in the area of Gorgoza's choice so as to alleviate the critical access problem. (R. 21.) On October 5, 1971, Mr. Conkling again contacted Mr. Kay to inform him of his concern over the State's apparent decision to improve Gorgoza's sloping middle entrance instead of its level western entrance as previously discussed, and to request further assurances that adequate commercial access would be made available so that the crucial decision about opening for the 1971-72 winter season could be made. (R. 46, 48.)

Although the State did construct an access to Gorgoza's property by way of its middle entrance on or about October 15, 1971, by October 29, 1971, it was apparent that the access was in utter disrepair. (R. 50-51.) On November 2, Mr. Conkling notified Mr. Kay of the terrible condition of the access road and urgently requested that improvements be made to correct the situation. (R. 50.) Mr. Kay consequently reminded the district engineer in writing of the State's commitment to Gorgoza and directed him to make the necessary improvements as soon as possible. (R. 51.)

On November 11, Gorgoza received notice from its insurance company that its policies had been cancelled on the

grounds that the resort was not ready for inspection due to the access problem. (R. 22.) Faced with this development together with the intolerable access situation, Gorgoza officials decided to discontinue operations indefinitely and so notified the State. (R. 52.)

During the summer of 1972, the access situation had still not improved which resulted in further deterioration of prospective investor interest. (R. 22.) Gorgoza officials therefore obtained an order to show cause why the order of immediate occupancy previously entered should not be vacated and the condemnation action dismissed or, alternatively, why they should not be granted other appropriate relief. (R. 77 and Exhibit "C" at 94.) On the 27th day of October, 1972, the parties stipulated and agreed to the entry of an order on order to show cause which permitted Gorgoza officials to assert their claims for damages arising out of the alleged breach of the provisions of the order of immediate occupancy in an independent action. (R. 77-78 and Exhibit "D" at 96.)

On November 7, 1972, the parties entered into a stipulation for just compensation in the eminent domain proceedings which stipulation contained the following language:

Defendants [Gorgoza, Incorporated, James B. Conkling and Donna D. Conkling] reserve all rights described in the order on order to show cause entered by this Court on the 27th day of October, 1972, which order is on file herein and further reserve all rights described in the order of immediate occupancy dated the 7th day of June, 1971, which order of immediate occupancy is on file herein and the parties hereto

hereby agree that they shall continue to be bound by all of the provisions of said order of immediate occupancy. (R. 78.) (Emphasis added.)

The stipulation described above did not fully dispose of the eminent domain proceedings and a trial was thereafter conducted. Following the trial, the Third Judicial District Court of Salt Lake County, State of Utah, entered findings of fact and conclusions of law which provided as follows:

Defendants Gorgoza and Conkling have reserved all rights described in the order on order to show cause entered by this Court on the 27th day of October, 1972, and in the order of immediate occupancy dated June 7, 1971, and the Court finds that defendants have not waived any of said rights. (Finding of Fact Number 23, R. 78; See also Conclusion of Law Number 6, R. 78.)

The plaintiffs filed their complaint for money damages against the State Road Commission and its general contractor on February 8, 1974. (R. 1.) Following discovery procedures, both Gorgoza and the State Road Commission filed motions for summary judgment supported by a stipulation of facts on the sole issue whether the agreement between the parties which was incorporated into the order of immediate occupancy entered on June 7, 1971, constituted a valid contractual obligation which was binding on the State. (R. 119-20; 128-29.)

After duly considering the motions, the Honorable Ernest F. Baldwin, Jr. adopted the parties' stipulation of facts and granted defendant State Road Commission's motion for summary judgment as prayed. (R. 130-32.) The court then dismissed plaintiffs' entire complaint, including the negligence count, with prejudice and this appeal followed.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE AGREEMENT BETWEEN GORGOZA AND THE STATE ROAD COMMISSION, NEGOTIATED AND EXECUTED BY THE ATTORNEY FOR THE COMMISSION, CREATED A BINDING CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATION WHICH IS ENFORCEABLE AGAINST THE STATE, SINCE THE AGREEMENT WAS FULLY ADOPTED AND RATIFIED BY THE COMMISSION FOLLOWING ITS EXECUTION BY THE STATE'S ATTORNEY.

The sole issue submitted to the lower court for determination on the parties' respective motions for summary judgment was whether a valid, existing and enforceable contract between Gorgoza and the State Road Commission was created under the factual situation before the court. Gorgoza contends that the lower court erred in its first, sixth, and seventh conclusions of law to the effect that no such contract was created under the facts. (R. 130-31.)

A. COURTS WILL ENFORCE CONTRACTUAL OBLIGATIONS ENTERED INTO BY THE PARTIES TO A CONDEMNATION SUIT.

Courts have frequently pointed out the difference in legal effect between mere promissory statements made by a condemning authority and valid, contractual, and therefore binding stipulations between the parties to a condemnation suit. 26 Am.Jur.2d Eminent Domain §154 at 821 (1966); Annot., 7 ALR2d 364, 392 (1949). If a particular case involves an agreement based on mutual assent and legal consideration, the agreement is properly to be considered in determining the property owner's damages or compensation. See Annot., 7 ALR2d. supra at 393,

and cases cited therein. If a binding stipulation does exist, numerous courts have declared that any marked departure therefrom as to the character of the work to be accomplished or the rights to be reserved would subject the condemnor to an action for damages in favor of the landowner whose land was being taken. Id. at 397.

Although Gorgoza does not contend that its remaining property was "taken" by the State's failure to provide reasonable commercial access as agreed, it does contend that the cases cited above clearly support the principle that binding contractual agreements between the condemning authority and the condemnee will be given legal effect where necessary to protect the landowner from additional damage caused by the condemnor's subsequent breach.

In the instant case, the stipulation of facts on file herein makes it clear that:

1. Plaintiffs and defendant State Road Commission by and through their respective attorneys arrived at the terms of an agreement regarding commercial access to plaintiffs' remaining land by negotiation and mutual assent. (Stipulation of Facts Nos. 3, 4, 5 and 6, R. 76.)

2. The terms of this agreement were subsequently incorporated into the order of immediate occupancy entered by the court on June 7, 1971. (Stipulation of Fact No. 6, R. 76.)

3. In arriving at the terms of the agreement, plaintiffs' attorney promised to accept service of process on behalf of his

clients and thereby waived Gorgoza's objections to the proposed location of the new highway in exchange for the State's promise to incorporate certain terms, provisions and obligations regarding access and use of plaintiffs' remaining property into the proposed order of immediate occupancy. (Stipulation of Fact No. 4, R. 76.)

4. Plaintiffs thereby incurred a legal detriment in that they agreed to accept service of process and to permit immediate entry of an order of immediate occupancy which they were not previously obligated to do. Plaintiffs simultaneously conferred a benefit on defendant State Road Commission by eliminating the time and expense of serving process on nonresident defendants, waiting for a hearing date on the motion, and presenting evidence in support of the motion at the hearing. (Stipulation of Facts Nos. 3 and 4, R. 76.)

5. Similarly, defendant State Road Commission incurred a legal detriment by promising to provide reasonable access to plaintiffs' remaining land and to be enjoined from interfering with plaintiff's commercial and recreational use, both of which duties defendant State Road Commission was not previously obligated to perform. (Stipulation of Fact No. 8, R. 77; R. 105.) Simultaneously, defendant State Road Commission conferred a benefit on plaintiffs by saving them the time and expense of additional litigation or negotiating procedures to resolve the problem at that time.

6. The terms of the agreement between the parties have not been altered in any way since the order of immediate occupancy was entered on June 7, 1971. On the contrary, the parties subsequently reaffirmed the provisions of the order and agreed to continue to be bound thereby. (Stipulation of Fact No. 12, R. 78.)

It is fundamental contract law that an agreement between two or more parties having capacity to contract, which is based on mutual assent and supported by legally sufficient consideration, creates a binding obligation in the absence of any grounds for disaffirming the contract. 1 S. Williston, Contracts §1 (3d ed. 1957). Furthermore, it makes no difference whether the terms of the contract are embodied in a formal pleading or in a separate instrument as long as the terms are clear and not altered by subsequent agreement of the parties. See Annot., 7 ALR2d 364, supra. In the instant case, plaintiffs contend that the basic elements of an enforceable contractual obligation have been stipulated to by the parties before the court. The State denies that it is bound by the agreement, however, on the grounds (inter alia) that its attorney lacked power to bind the Commission without its prior knowledge, approval and consent. (R. 107-08.)

B. WHATEVER ACTS PUBLIC OFFICIALS MAY DO OR AUTHORIZE TO BE DONE IN THE FIRST INSTANCE MAY SUBSEQUENTLY BE ADOPTED AND RATIFIED BY THEM.

According to the general rule set forth in the cases and supported by the decisions of this court, the contractual act

of a public officer which is beyond the scope of his authority is not binding on the state unless the following conditions are met:

1. The particular state agency involved would have been authorized to perform the act or enter into the agreement in the first instance; and

2. The state agency either held out the officer as having authority to perform the original act or subsequently ratified the act with full knowledge of the facts. Fareilly Lake Levee District v. Hampton, 228 Ark. 242, 306 S.W.2d 699 (1957); Yaeger v. Giguierre, 222 Minn. 41, 23 N.W.2d 22 (1946). See also State Road Commission v. Bates, 20 Utah 2d 175, 435 P.2d 417 (1967).

In the context of the case at bar, the Yaeger case is particularly enlightening. In that case the plaintiffs, as members of the police department and taxpayers in the City of South St. Paul, brought suit against the city treasurer and others to enjoin the defendants from paying out any further public funds as compensation for the services of one Ed Giguierre who was allegedly employed as a police officer in violation of certain civil service statutes and local rules. The nub of the controversy was that defendant Giguierre obtained a leave of absence with the approval of the police chief, but without the final approval of the civil service commission as required under the rules. From a judgment denying injunctive relief, the plaintiffs appealed. The Supreme Court of Minnesota affirmed the lower

court on the grounds that the subsequent act of the commission in approving defendant's leave, constituted a valid ratification of the police chief's action:

There can be no question that the commission had the authority in the first instance to approve the leave as granted by the chief of police. It is a general rule that whatever acts public officials may do or authorize to be done in the first instance may subsequently be adopted or ratified by them with the same effect as though properly done under previous authority. Applying this rule to the instant case, it is clear that the civil service commission by its belated action ratified the granting of a leave of absence with the same effect as if originally authorized. 23 N.W. 2d at 25 (citations omitted).

The decision of the Supreme Court of Minnesota in Yaeger is consistent with this court's decision in the case of State Road Commission v. Bates, 20 Utah 2d 175, 435 P.2d 417 (1967). In that case, the State Road Commission brought a condemnation action to obtain a narrow strip of land belonging to the defendants which adjoined a nonaccess freeway. No issue was raised as to the state's right to take the land or as to the value thereof. The landowners did claim severance damage to their remaining land, however, by reason of their loss of access to the canyon stream for stock watering purposes. This contention was based upon an alleged promise by the state's negotiator that if the landowners would sign the deed, the Commission would provide the water. 435 P.2d at 417.

In affirming the lower court's decision, this court held that the evidence supported the findings that the landowners

had been previously paid for their loss of access to water and that the purported promise of the state's negotiator to get water up onto the defendant's land was not binding on the Commission. 435 P.2d at 418. This holding, however, was based on a factual situation that is clearly distinguishable from the case at bar; namely, that the Commission in Bates denied that it ever made any promise to the landowners, and there was no evidence of any subsequent ratification. 435 P.2d at 417.

In the instant case, the record abundantly demonstrates that the State Road Commission had the authority to enter into the original agreement with Gorgoza and that it subsequently adopted and ratified the agreement executed by its attorney with full knowledge of the facts. Since each condition is essential to create a contractual obligation which is binding on the State, each will be considered separately.

1. THE STATE ROAD COMMISSION WAS AUTHORIZED TO ENTER INTO THE CONTRACTUAL AGREEMENT WITH GORGOZA AT THE TIME IT WAS MADE.

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