2001

# Gorgoza, Incorporated; James B. Conkling; Donna D. Conkling v. The State of Utah Road Commission: Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

The logical extension of the appellant's argument would be to say that any Order of Immediate Occupancy creates a "contract" and a breach would give rise to a cause of action notwithstanding governmental immunity. For instance assume that the language of the Order of Immediate Occupancy were decided upon between the landowner or his counsel on one hand and the judge on the other, while the condemning agency representative remained silent. Does this create a contract? If so, who is bound by it? A logical extension of plaintiff's theory would say that a contract is created. The absurdity of plaintiff's argument is obvious and should be rejected. Respondent submits that the most obvious reason for concluding that there is not an agreement

is that no matter how much negotiating is done over the language to be submitted to a court for a proposed Order, the court can and frequently does change the language and the final result is a "court order," not an agreement.

To constitute an agreement to fit appellant's theory the respondent supposedly received a benefit of such proportion that it became consideration for an agreement which would not otherwise exist. What was this "benefit?" Supposedly it was the lack of necessity to serve the defendants with process and the resultant ability to proceed with awarding a contract. It is submitted this hardly is a benefit. The contract could have been let with a provision restricting the contractor from working on appellant's property until it was obtained at a later time, so there was little, if any, benefit. The statute allows service on the clerk of the court where the defendants are non-residents also. To say this is sufficient to create a contract with the resulting burden which appellant urges is really difficult, if not down right impossible to accept.

Most contracts are formed because the parties intended to form a contract. There must be present the essentials of a contract such as consideration, mutuality, etc. It is usually for the mutual benefit of the parties. An analysis of the instant case reveals no apparent intention on the part of re-

spondent to "form a contract" and little mutuality. Counsel for the State requested appellant's counsel to accept service, a request which is not uncommon. Appellant's counsel requested modification in the language of the proposed Order of Immediate Occupancy, again not an uncommon request. Assume that the request of respondent's counsel or of appellant's counsel, either one, occurred without the other, would there be an agreement? Does the fact that these independent requests were coincidental constitute an agreement? Respondent submits that the real question is what did the parties intend? Counsel for appellant may have intended this to be a "contract," but such was not the intent of respondent's counsel. Nothing of the sort was discussed at the time and since respondent's counsel cannot intentionally bind the State without authorization, it is inconceivable that he can unintentionally bind the State as would have to be the case in this instance.

B. GOVERNMENTAL IMMUNITY CANNOT BE WAIVED BY  
THE ATTORNEY GENERAL DIRECTLY OR INDIRECTLY  
WITHOUT LEGISLATIVE AUTHORITY.

This court has recently stated that only the legislature can waive sovereign immunity. The case of Bailey Service & Supply Corp. v. State Road Commission, (1975) 533 P.2d 882, wherein the court states the following in commenting on the abortive attempt of the State Road Commission to waive sovereign immunity in that case:



" . . .  
Early in the proceedings the  
State Road Commission entered  
into a stipulation with the  
plaintiff which purported to  
waive governmental immunity.  
The stipulation was disavowed,  
and the State defended on the  
ground that the State was im-  
mune from suit. Only the legis-  
lature can waive sovereign im-  
munity and the Road Commission's  
attempt to do so was without  
legal effect. . . ."  
(emphasis supplied)

If by the simple act of stipulating to alternative language in a proposed Order of Immediate Occupancy an attorney for the Road Commission (now Department of Transportation) can create a contract binding on that agency which has the effect of waiving the cloak of sovereign immunity, then it means an agent can do something the parent agency cannot do. Add to that the fact the agent did not seek or obtain any permission to create a contract and it becomes obvious that it is even more difficult to accept appellant's theory that a contract was created.

The Governmental Immunity Act found in Title 63, Chapter 30, Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and specifically Section 63-30-4, makes the act exclusive as to waiver, that section reads in part as follows:

" . . . wherein immunity from  
suit is waived by this act,  
consent to be sued is granted.  
. . . ."

This court has stated in the case of Hansen v. Barlow, 23 Utah 2d 47, 456 P.2d 177 (1969), the following proposition:

" . . . the Attorney General, in the absence of express legislative restriction to the contrary, may exercise all such power and authority as the public interest may from time to time require. In short, the Attorney General's powers are as broad as the common law unless restricted or modified by statute. . . ."

But for the pre-emption of waiver powers which the legislature obviously intended when they passed the governmental immunity act, supra, the Attorney General under common-law powers could presumably have waived governmental immunity. It logically follows that since the Attorney General cannot directly waive governmental immunity, a waiver cannot be effected indirectly either.

C. THE ROAD COMMISSION (DEPARTMENT OF TRANSPORTATION)  
HAS NOT RATIFIED THE ALLEGED AGREEMENT BY ITS  
ACTIONS.

Appellant argues that respondent, State Road Commission, has "adopted and ratified" the alleged agreement of the parties entered into on June 7, 1971, when the Order of Occupancy was issued by the court.

Respondent denies most vigorously that its actions in response to the Order of Immediate Occupancy amount to a ratifica-

tion of an alleged agreement between the parties. The Order of Immediate Occupancy required the respondent to provide "reasonable access." (R. 5) Respondent's actions were nothing more than an attempt to comply faithfully with the Order of the Court and to require its contractor to comply as well. This is standard practice since those within the Department realize the legal consequence of a denial of access.

The respondent understands the consequences of a failure to comply with the provisions of an Order of Immediate Occupancy. The fact that the taking of or denial of access can result in the payment of substantial damages is reason enough to justify all of respondent, Road Commission's, actions in this case.

Assuming, for the sake of argument, that an agreement was reached between counsel for the parties, and assuming that this was an unauthorized act by an agent of the State in line with the Bates case, supra, and further assuming that ratification of this agreement is not (1) required to obtain occupancy of the property and (2) removes a protection against liability otherwise afforded, is it reasonable to assume that the respondent would act to ratify this so called agreement? The answer has to be an emphatic, No! On the other hand, would it be reasonable to expect the respondent, Road Commission, to react as it did in order to comply with a court order? The answer is obviously, yes.

Respondent submits that the actions it took should be viewed in the light of what is reasonable.

One further comment should be made concerning the word "agreement." Appellant argues that the "agreement" of the parties was admitted in the answer filed by the defendant, State Road Commission. The agreement was as to language in a proposed order to be submitted to the court for review and approval. It is submitted that one can agree without making a "contract." The dictionary defines the word agreement as follows:

"(1)a. The act or fact of agreeing; b. harmony of opinion, action or character: concord; (2)a. an arrangement as to a course of action; b. compact, treaty; (3)a. a contract duly executed and legally binding; b. the language or instrument embodying such a contract." (Webster's Seventh New Collegiate Dictionary)

The parties obviously attach a different meaning to the word "agreement." Appellant construes it as a legally binding contract. The respondent construes it as "an arrangement as to a course of action," to wit, the proposal of language to a court for the creation of and issuance of a court order.

## POINT II

THE STIPULATION OF THE PARTIES AS TO THE LANGUAGE IN A PROPOSED ORDER OF OCCUPANCY DOES NOT CREATE A "CONTRACT" AND IN ANY EVENT, CONSIDERATION IS INADEQUATE.

A. THE TERMS OF AN ORDER OF IMMEDIATE OCCUPANCY  
ARE ULTIMATELY DECIDED BY THE COURT.

Plaintiff's contention is that there is a contract existing between the parties to provide "reasonable access" to plaintiff's property during the course of construction, which is supported by the consideration of plaintiffs agreeing to proceed with the Order of Occupancy without the necessity of serving all the parties personally, in return for the State's agreement to incorporate the suggested language of plaintiff which deals with the question of access. Defendant's position is that there cannot be any "contract" for a number of reasons:

Section 78-34-9 Utah Code Annotated, 1953, states in part:

" . . . Upon the filing of a petition for immediate occupancy the court shall fix the time within which, and the terms upon which, the parties in possession shall be required to surrender possession to the plaintiff.  
 . . . "

Nowhere in the statutes dealing with eminent domain, is there a legal requirement imposed upon a condemning authority to provide access. However, the legal affect of denying access is that the condemning authority must pay damage for the diminished value occasioned by the denial of access.

It has been the custom of the Road Commission to seek an Order "pendente lite" authorizing the Road Commission to enter into possession of the property while the question of damages and/or the value of the taking is reserved for a later proceeding. It has become somewhat customary for courts to grant these orders of occupancy routinely upon the request of the Road Commission and they are seldom contested. The State has a set proposed Order containing standard language previously used and approved by many state courts which is routinely submitted to a court for entry which provides, among other things, for reasonable access. On numerous occasions, when there are special problems or when counsel for defendant landowners request changes, or the court in some instances on its own volition elects to, these orders are changed as far as the language is concerned in various ways. In the case which forms the basis for this suit, a request was made by defendant's counsel of plaintiff's counsel to accept service so that the court could proceed with an immediate hearing, obtain an Order of Occupancy and advertise the project for bid. The routine Order prepared by the State was submitted to plaintiff's counsel for review. Plaintiff's counsel thereupon submitted the Order incorporating the changes which the plaintiff desired. Defendant's counsel reviewed the language contained in the proposed Order prepared by plaintiff's counsel

and approved the entry of said Order upon stipulation, and the court then made it an Order. Defendant does not consider that anything was "given up" as far as the language of the Order of Occupancy is concerned. The Court simply chose to adopt as its Order the agreed language submitted by the parties which amplifies the language already proposed by counsel for the State.

B. THERE WAS INSUFFICIENT CONSIDERATION IN THE  
ALLEGED AGREEMENT OF JUNE 7, 1971, TO BIND  
THE STATE IN ANY EVENT.

The Court found that,

" . . . There was insufficient consideration in the alleged agreement incorporated within the Order of Occupancy of June 7, 1971, to bind the State and thus, constitute a contract, in any event." (R. 131)

The consideration which supposedly supports the agreement between the parties is the acceptance of service in the eminent domain action by counsel for appellants without the necessity of serving the appellants, in return for the alleged concession of the respondent in agreeing to modified language in the Order of Immediate Occupancy.

This "consideration" is illusory for at least three reasons as follows: (1) Neither parties' acts constituted a legal detriment of sufficient proportion to be considered as

the equivalent of a legal consideration. The respondent, State Road Commission, agreed to modified language in a proposed court order not significantly different from that proposed originally. (Compare R. 4-6 with R. 24-26). The appellant allegedly gave up the right to be served with process and allegedly waived objections to the proposed location of the new highway. (R. 76). The fact is that counsel for respondent requested that counsel for appellant accept service of process to enable the hearing on the Order of Immediate Occupancy to proceed. Appellants were never requested to "give up the right to contest the location of the highway" as appellants assert in their brief. (P. 11) This assertion is absolutely untrue and was never the subject of discussion between counsel for the parties. The acceptance of service and a stipulation to permit an Order of Immediate Occupancy to be entered does not waive any rights to contest the location of the highway. It is true that when the appellant later withdrew the money deposited with the clerk pursuant to statute, the appellant then waived all rights to contest the location of the highway and was only entitled to seek compensation for the taking and resulting damages. This, however, is due to the fact that the law so provides, (78-34-9) Utah Code Annotated, 1953, and not because appellant was requested to abandon a legal right. (2) If appellant's assertion is correct, to wit, that



it "gave up certain rights," then the consideration only runs one way since respondent has never asserted or considered that it "gave up anything" in the events leading up to the entry of the Order. (3) How much benefit, if any, did respondent receive? The answer is, virtually nothing; the respondent was excused from having to serve process on defendants residing outside the State. The law, however, in Section 78-34-9, would have allowed the State to serve notice on the clerk of the court and proceed with a hearing after the minimum notice period. Realistically, it is submitted that this is hardly adequate consideration for an agreement with the legal consequences which appellant asserts.

### POINT III

IF A CONTRACT WAS "CREATED" BY THE ORDER, IT IS INCOMPLETE AND APPELLANT'S RELIEF WOULD BE LIMITED AND MAY HAVE BEEN WAIVED.

A. THE ORDER OF IMMEDIATE OCCUPANCY IS INCOMPLETE REGARDING RELIEF FOR VIOLATION OF THE ORDER AND THE AWARD OF MONEY DAMAGES URGED BY APPELLANT IS NOT PROPER.

Assuming for purpose of argument, that a contract was "created" on June 7, 1971, by the events surrounding the entry of the Order of Immediate Occupancy, then the contract is the Order itself.

The Order or "contract" does not provide for an award of money damages in the event it is not complied with by its terms.

The Order of Occupancy, itself, provides for injunctive relief and this is all the relief that plaintiff is entitled to. The court may award damages under a contempt proceeding. Section 78-32-11, Utah Code Annotated 1953, reads as follows:

"If an actual loss or injury to a party in an action or special proceeding, prejudicial to his rights therein, is caused by the contempt, the court, in addition to the fine or imprisonment imposed for the contempt or in place thereof, may order the person proceeded against to pay the party aggrieved a sum of money sufficient to indemnify him and to satisfy his costs and expenses; which order and the acceptance of money under it is a bar to an action by the aggrieved party for such loss and injury."

It would appear from the foregoing Section that the court would be the one to make inquiry as to whether or not there was a contempt within the purview of the Order of Occupancy and if so, award damages if it so determined, however, it would appear that this proceeding would be improper before a jury.

The Order of Immediate Occupancy is further deficient as a "contract" in that no time limits are set regarding when actions must be completed.

B. APPELLANT'S RELIEF, IF ANY, WAS INJUNCTIVE IN NATURE AND WAS WAIVED BY FAILURE TO INSIST ON ENFORCEMENT AT THE TIME OF THE ALLEGED INJURY.

Assuming further for the sake of argument that in addition to the formation of a contract by the events of June 7, 1971, the respondent breached the contract, then pursuant to the terms of the agreement the relief was injunctive in nature.

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